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independent non-executive Directors are Mr. Lau Chun Pong, Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi
He.

This announcement, for which the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this
announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Announcements” page of the
GEM website for at least 7 days from the date of its posting.



CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM™) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE™)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company’)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that
to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading and that all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at
after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
DA

China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the business of
manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose operations
are located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated in Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in July 2002
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liabilities in accordance with the Company Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda. It was initially listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 August 2003.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Beijing. The Group’s production of liquefied
coalbed gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest
liquefied coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to Shanxi
Provinces, etc..

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (‘LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi since
July 2011. The Group had successfully supplied gas to the LNG
plant. The commercial production of coalbed gas has transformed
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and
continued to enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional
gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality
clean energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a complete
business process covering Coalbed Methane (“CBM”) extraction,
liquefaction, pipelines and highway transportation, distribution
network and technical services. As at 31 December 2023, we have
completed the groundwork and drilling of 229 wells in the Yangcheng
gas block which resulted in stable increase of the number of
production wells and gas output.

EXTRACTION AND PRODUCTION BUSINESS
REVIEW

During 2023, the construction of new wells was somewhat affected
by our focus on improving capabilities of production wells. As at 31
December 2023, we have completed the ground work and drilling
of a total of 229 CBM wells, of which 164 wells were operating wells
with stable production since they had been put in operation. Thanks
to the stable gas output in gas blocks, the Group has generated
revenue, profit and cash flow from the business of exploitation of
natural gas, and its profitability and cash flow position will be further
improved as the number and capabilities of production wells further
increase.
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LNG BUSINESS REVIEW

As at 31 December 2023, the production capacity of the Group's
LNG plants remained unchanged at the level of approximately
500,000 cubic meters per day. The average daily production was
only around 180,000 m? for the year. The Group will try the best effort
to stabilised the gas supply from suppliers and increase the utilisation
rate of our LNG plants in 2024, and which will continue to increase
the income, profit and cash flow contribution to the Group.

MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a diversified
customer base comprising industrial, commercial and resident
customers and established complete distribution channel and
network. In addition, we have also taken different measures
to maximise the profitability of our gas sale. In 2023, we used
different sales mix and flexibly selected various equipment such
as pipeline and cylinder group, to sell gas to our customers. With
commencement of the related work, we will be able to reduce the
uncertainty in future natural gas sales and optimise our sales mix, i.e.
shifting towards a balanced mix from a residential user dominated
mix.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration
and production business and the continuous improvement of
technologies, and to maintain our leading position in technological
advancement, we actively worked with research institutes to build
and expand our professional technical team, so as to provide
professional and advanced technical services to our exploration and
liquefaction production business. In the future, we will be investing
heavily in developing and advancing our CBM extraction technology
and techniques.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to observing its
environmental and social responsibility, in order to ensure sustainable
development of its business. To the knowledge of the Directors,
the Group has complied with all material relevant applicable laws
and regulations in relation to its business including employment and
the environment. The Group encourages employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and
social activities. The Company as a leading CBM company will seize
opportunities to grow our CBM business on a long term sustainable
basis.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provide that the directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

OUTLOOK

At present, demand for natural gas is increasing in China with huge
growth potential. In light of pollution in China, governments at all
levels are placing more emphasis on development of clean energy,
which shows great potential in further development, recognizing the
rising advocacy of safer — especially under the recent nuclear power
crisis — and cleaner energy. However, the existing conventional natural
gas production is unlikely to satisfy China’s strong demand of natural
gas in the coming years; and we believe that it is inevitable that the
PRC government would need to encourage the unconventional gas
production. With all the favourable policies and measures in place,
there is no doubt that the Company, as a leading CBM company, will
gain major benefits. We will seize this opportunity to grow our CBM
business on a long term sustainable basis and would try our very
best to maximize our shareholders’ investment return.
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To carry through the Group’s spirit of advancement by innovation, the
Group has commenced the R&D on C-H to Synthesis of natural gas
production, which is temporarily named as High-temperature-water
Activate C-H to Synthesis of Natural-gas Technology. The Group
commenced the process of commercialized design in the second
half of 2019 and small-scale production was expected to start by
the end of 2021. The first pilot equipment went through trial run in
June 2021 and based on the trial run results, an improved design
plan was proposed in November 2021, which would involve special
steel material imported from overseas. Due to the disruption in global
supply chain as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, there was delay
in obtaining imported steel material. The second pilot equipment
still under construction due to the limitation of high temperature
resistance of the material. Upon completion of the second pilot
equipment, the Group will immediately conduct an advanced
demonstration of the pilot equipment overseas (including but not
limited to Hong Kong) and invite internationally renowned experts to
evaluate the technology. With the steady increase in the number of
upstream wells and gas output and the successful development of
C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production, the Group’s LNG plants
will get a stable gas supply, enabling the LNG plants to reach full
production and realize the commercial value of the LNG plants.
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As the Group’s raw gas supply will be further consolidated, the
advantage of vertical integration business will emerge. With the stable
supply from self-produced well gas and C-H to Synthesis of natural
gas production, the Company will gradually reduce its exposure to
external factors and the risks beyond the Company’s control in its
operations will also be reduced. Given the successful development
of such technology, the Group can cooperate with the city gas pipe
line network to introduce C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production
directly into the city gas pipeline network, providing new profit growth
for the Group.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for
all their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading enterprise
in China’s CBM industry and other innovative industries.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairrman

27 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB239,421,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately 26.67% compared with
that of the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly
because RMB106,259,000 in the turnover of 2022 were contributed
from the disposed business (Guangxi business).

The Group recorded a profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately
RMB2,530,000 compared with that of profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
of approximately RMB127,293,000. The reasons for the decrease in
profits are as follows:

1. In 2022, the gain on disposal of a Guangxi Beiliu Gas Co., Ltd.
business was approximately RMB100,797,000 and no such
gain occurred in 2023.

2. An equity-settled share-based payment of RMB6,468,000 due
to a share options granted in 2022 and no such expenses
occurred in 2023.

3. Income tax expenses of RMB7,240,000 in 2022 because (i) an
enterprise income tax derived by a dividend paid from a PRC
subsidiary to its overseas immediate holding company; (i) an
enterprise income tax paid in relation to the gain on disposal of
PRC subsidiary in 2022. No such corporate action occurred in
2023, therefore, income tax expense significantly decreased in
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Huiyang New Energy”) has interest in
certain CBM properties located at Shanxi Province, the PRC. The
Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in the Shanxi Province, the
PRC. Development within the Yangcheng gas block is focused on
the #3 and #15 coal seams. These CBM properties are located at
various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited. 100% of Huiyang New Energy’s equity
interests is held by one of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of 31
December 2023 are set out below:
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Reserve Reserve

evaluation evaluation
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properties properties
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2023 BCF 2012 BCF
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Total original gas in place on all blocks FTA B RIGRARIMBE LS 2 193.6 272.4

Net 1P (Proved) reserves BE(IP) FHE 108.9 3.5

Net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves & 35 B MNELES (2P) FH % E 154.7 27.7
Net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) & & & AL RS A1 °] 8E(3P) Ff# &

reserves 193.6 205.0

The change in the 1P, 2P and 3P is based on the professional advice
by the Engineer of our Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March 2012 is
the results of evaluation conducted by an independent, US-licensed
natural gas reserve engineer, Netherlands, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
(“NSAI") engaged by the Company in 2011 to evaluate the CBM
properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells are
relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling the
Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to evaluate
the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the Company
engaged an independent professional valuer in the PRC in July
2014 to evaluate certain CBM properties of “Huiyang New Energy”
in terms of net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) reserves, net 2P
(Proved + Probable) reserves and net 1P (Proved) reserves based on
substantially the same definitions and guidelines as that of NSAI in
2012. According to the results of the evaluation, the total original gas
in place on all blocks was generally unchanged as compared with
that of NSAl in 2012.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at standard
temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown in the above
table are estimates only and should not be construed as exact
quantities. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and gas
which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable;
probable and possible reserves are those additional reserves which
are sequentially less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.
Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of market
conditions, future operations, changes in regulations, or actual
reservoir performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Natural Gas Exploration and Extraction

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 229 CBM wells, among which 164 wells were
in production. The operating wells with stable production since they
had been put in operation.

Liquefaction operation

As at 31 December 2023, the production capacity of the Group's
LNG plants remained unchanged at the level of approximately
500,000 cubic meters per day. Due to the insufficient raw gas supply,
the average daily production was only around 180,000 m? for the
year.

Marketing and Sales

During 2023, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies basically
remained the same.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net assets of approximately
RMB160,801,000, including cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB45,444,000. To minimize financial risks, the Group
implements stringent financial and risk management strategies and
avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The Group’s
gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external borrowings
divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately 11.78% as at
31 December 2023 (2022: 6.59%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve
the cash position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital
intensive. If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether
it is from internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from fund
raising), the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart from the
intended investment in upstream CBM exploration and extraction, the
Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or investment,
disposal or scale-down of any current business.

The Employees

As at 31 December, 2023, the employees of the Group totaled
240, among which 18 were R&D staff and 136 were engineering
and customer service staff; 78 were administration staff and 8 were
marketing and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of staff
(including the remuneration of the Board Directors) recognised in
profit or loss account was approximately RMB25,612,000 (2022:
approximately RMB31,848,000). The remuneration and salary
packages and dividend policy of the Group were determined based
on the individual performance of staff. The Group will continue to
offer professional further studies and training to staff.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-
of-use Assets

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no impairment loss was
recognised in respect of certain property, plant and equipment of the
Group.

Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no significant
investment, material acquisition of subsidiaries and associated
companies by the Company. For the details of major disposal of
subsidiaries, please refer to Major transaction and Events on pages
81 to 82.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

The upstream business of the Company is improving steadily and
the well construction and gas output are both increasing constantly.
During 2017, the Company made technological upgrade to some
old wells to improve production capacity and output, laying a solid
foundation for the Company’s long-term performance. However, the
shortage in supply of raw gas kept handicapping the Group. Daily
gas output of the upstream business was insufficient to allow the
500,000 cubic meters daily production capacity of liquefaction plant
to be fully unleased. In 2017, the Group has commenced the R&D
on C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production, which is temporarily
named as High-temperature-water Activate C-H to Synthesis of
Natural-gas Technology. The Group commenced the process of
commercialized design in the second half of 2019 and small-scale
production was expected to start by the end of 2021. The first pilot
equipment went through trial run in June 2021 and based on the trial
run results, an improved design plan was proposed in November
2021, which would involve special steel material imported from
overseas. Due to the disruption in global supply chain as a result
of the COVID-19 pandemic, there was delay in obtaining imported
steel material. The second pilot equipment still under construction
due to the limitation of high temperature resistance of the material.
Upon completion of the second pilot equipment, the Group will
immediately conduct an advanced demonstration of the pilot
equipment overseas (including but not limited to Hong Kong) and
invite internationally renowned experts to evaluate the technology.
With the steady increase in the number of upstream wells and gas
output and the successful development of C-H to Synthesis of
natural gas production, the Group’s LNG plants will get a stable gas
supply, enabling the LNG plants to reach full production and realize
the commercial value of the LNG plants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

As the Group’s raw gas supply will be further consolidated, the
advantage of vertical integration business will emerge. With the stable
supply from self-produced well gas and C-H to Synthesis of natural
gas production, the Company will gradually reduce its exposure to
external factors and the risks beyond the Company’s control in its
operations will also be reduced. Given the successful development
of such technology, the Group can cooperate with the city gas pipe
line network to introduce C-H to Synthesis of natural gas production
directly into the city gas pipeline network, providing new profit growth
for the Group.

As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it is
foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from the
market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy will be
more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for natural gas.
The demand growth of natural gas market will continue to retain its
strong momentum. Management of the Company will spare no effort
in overcoming difficulties and be devoted to making contribution to
the Company’s profit margin and long-term development.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, there was no charge on assets of the
Group (2022: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance
of responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders, (iii)
the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and the
recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders, and (iv)
the improvement in crisis management and the enhancement of
performance by the Group. The Group has applied the principles
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules with these
objectives in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate Governance
Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out the
corporate standards and practices used by the Group to direct
and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by reference to
the principles, code provisions and recommended best practices
set out in the Code, which came into effect on 1 January
2005. In addition to formalising existing corporate governance
principles and practices, the Company Code also serves the
purpose of assimilating existing practices with benchmarks
prescribed by the Code and ultimately ensuring high
transparency and accountability to the Group’s shareholders.

Compliance of Company Code and the code
provisions under the Code (the “Code Provisions™)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the
year ended 31 December 2023 save for code provisions A.2.1
and A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and reason
for derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of Non-executive
Directors” of this corporate governance report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the Company’s code
of conduct for the year 2023.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company through direction and supervision of the
Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of eight Directors, comprising two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman), and
Mr. Chang Jian, three non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Duan Shi
Chuan, Mr. Liang Feng and Mr. Wang Chen and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Xu Yuan Jian, Mr. Wang Zhi
He and Mr. Lau Chun Pong. Mr. Lau Chun Pong has appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
there were three independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of independent non-executive Directors represents
at least one-third of the Board. The Company has also complied with
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of
the independent non-executive Directors must possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board considers that the independent
non-executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code. In 2023, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, (c)
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct and (g)
the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosure requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
Directors have no fixed term of office but are subject to retirement by
rotation at annual general meetings of the Company in accordance
with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the management of the Company and is collectively responsible
for appointing and supervising senior management to ensure that
the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with the
objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board are:

e to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

e to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

e to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate policies
to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible
for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save
and except for those that may specifically be reserved by the
Board and/or the committees set up by the Board for decision
and implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations;

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business activities,
internal controls and administration of the Company;

3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4. keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of Mr. Feng
San Li on 26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was holding the title
of CEO. Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board. After
Mr. Feng’s retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng continues to act as the
chairman and the duties of the chief executive have been undertaken
by the other executive Director(s). The Board meets regularly to
consider major matters affecting the business and operations of the
Group. The Board considers that this structure will balance the power
and authority between the Board and management and believes that
this structure enables the Group to make and implement decision
promptly and efficiently.
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BOARD OPERATION

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with
additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In 2023, the
Board held 18 meetings.

The attendance record of each member of the Board at board
meetings and general meetings of the Company are set out below:
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Executive Directors
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Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairrman)
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Mr. Chang Jian
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Mr. Duan Shi Chuan
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Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and
would abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.

Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

e A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every Director,
which sets out guidelines on conduct by making reference to the
relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM Listing Rules, and
reminds Directors of their responsibilities in making disclosure of
their interests and potential conflict of interests.

e  QOrientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

e Management provides appropriate and sufficient information to
Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group and
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors also
have independent and unrestricted access to senior executives
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. Directors’
training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December
2023, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

Attending seminar(s)

or programme(s)/

reading relevant materials
in relation to the business,
GEM Listing Rules or
directors’ duties (Yes/No)

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Chang Jian Yes
Mr. Duan Shi Chuan Yes
Mr. Liang Feng Yes
Mr. Wang Chen Yes
Mr. Lau Chun Pong Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian Yes
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The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
discloseable transactions and connected transactions etc.

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to member of key management (exclude
Director) fell within the following band:

BNERENTERRETR - FELTA
AERAREBEEE ATHRERXRH NEE

5%

XN TFEEEE NS H M

*HFEBERAR CFREEE) HFH
ARANFLTHE:

Nil ~ HK$1,000,000 (equivalentto & Z 7 7T1,000,0007T (HBE 7
approximately RMB906,000 #9 A R #906,0007T
(2022: RMB861,000) (===

AR #861,0007T)

2023 2022
—=E-= —_E__
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

A A

2 2

New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company in
2015. The New Share Option Scheme allows the Company to grant
share options to eligible participants who has contributed or may
contribute to the growth and development of the Group in recognition
of their contribution to the Group.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme. In addition to the review of the New Share
Option Scheme terms, as disclosed above, the Remuneration
Committee also reviewed the grant of options to the Directors and
senior management and corporate financial advisor during the year.
The Remuneration Committee considers that the grants of options
are fair and reasonable in recognizing their contributions to the Group
and are in the interests of the Group as a whole. The Remuneration
considers that the grants of share options align with the purpose of
the New Share Option Scheme.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Directors’ Report and note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing such policy on remuneration;

to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration
packages for executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duties of
Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations
to the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors
and executives and reviewing and/or approving matters relating to
the share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In 2023, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:
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Attendance
HE =

Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 2/2
BRI % £ (/)
Mr. Wang Zhi He 2/2
FzAEE
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 2/2
RS E
During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee exHE FHEZEEeXBEEREET

reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors (such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and the
business objectives of the Group).
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The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to
the remuneration committee for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee performed the major work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure of
the Company and the remuneration and performance of duties
of the executive Directors and senior management in the year
under review;

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; and

3. reviewed the share option scheme and the grant of share
options.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would
include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. There is no fixed
timeline when gender diversity will be achieved in respect of the
Board, but selection of candidates for the Board membership will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives as mentioned above. The
Company plans to appoint at least a director of a different gender on
the board by 31 December 2024.
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In determining the optimum composition of the Board, diversity
of Board members will be considered from a number of factors in
order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, skills,
experience and knowledge on the Board. The Company will also take
into account its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. For the purpose of implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
the Board has set the following measurable objectives: (1) the Board
will ensure there is a balance of male and female representation at
Board level by 31 December 2024; (2) the Board will continue to
comprise of members with working experience in various industries
and knowledge and skills in different aspects; and (3) the Board will
continue to comprise of members from different age groups.

The Board currently consists of eight (8) Directors are at ages ranging
from 38 to 77 years old with three (3) of them between the age group
of 35-50, three of them between the age group of 51-60 and two
of them between the age group of 60-80, serving on the Board for
different tenures. The current Board members are well-experienced in
different areas including natural gas, engineering, industrial production
and safety, corporate management and accounting and finance. In
view of the present size of the Board and the Group’s operations and
the nature of the risks and challenges it faces, with the appointment
of female director by 31 December 2024, the Board considers that
the Company has achieved diversity with a right balance of skKills,
experience and knowledge among the present Board members, and
that there will be sufficient diversity in the Board for the Company’s
corporate governance and business development needs.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has an approximately 2:1 ratio
of male and female in the workforce. The Group will strive to maintain
a balance of gender diversity when recruiting and selecting key
management and other personnel across the Group’s operation.
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The Nomination Committee will review, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness in the Board Diversity Policy and monitor its
implementation.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Lau Chun Pong.

In 2023, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is
set out below:

REZBEHEN (WAE) UERES
ERES TR AR Y EEREE-

RAZBEAARAEHBUIFNTES
M BREEZMEL(EFE) FERE
HERBRF T A -

REZEEN _T_=_FBRIT—XRez-
RAZBEEKENHFELENT

Attendance
HiE=E
Mr. Wang zhi He (Chairman) 1M1
FzMEE (FRE)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong 11
R FB L £
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian 11
IRFRER S A

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future, and performed the major work as below:

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and experience
required to meet the Company’s business;

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-executive
Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.
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AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the Company
was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review of the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the said policy as one of its duty.

Workforce Level

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related activities. Due
to the uniqueness of the industry, most of the employees are men,
with a minority of women. In order to handle the machine operation
and manual work, the proportion of the Company’s employees is
mostly men. Setting a measurable objective for achieving gender
diversity at workforce level is not suitable for the business of the
Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Xu Yuan Jian and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, financial statements, half year reports and quarterly reports;
(b) to serve as a focal point for communication between Directors,
the external auditors and internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board in
fulfiling its responsibilities by providing an independent review and
supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control and risk management system; and (d) to review the
appointment of external auditors on an annual basis as well as to
ensure independence of the continuing auditors.
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In 2023, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance HMMZEBE W — T - = WHEITNA D& -

record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below: FTHEEEENEMHFELERIT:
Attendance
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At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the
Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system
of internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The
Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties
set out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has
met the company’s management several times during year 2023.
Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and the management.

During the financial year 2023, the Audit Committee has held four
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2023 have been reviewed
and commented by the Audit Committee members, and performed
the major works as below:

1. reviewed the annual financial results and report for the year
ended 31 December 2022, interim financial results and report
for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and quarterly financial
results and reports for each of the three months ended 31
March 2023 and 30 September 2023;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding
the reviewing and procedures of the internal control and risk
management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of
appointment of external auditors.

The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been
reviewed and commented by the audit committee members, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as the
GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are as
follows:

Room 20, 19/F

Fortune Commercial Building
362 Sha Tsui Road

Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his wilingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be
at least seven (7) days and that the period for lodgment of such
notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have:

e adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

e made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in all corporate communications.
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Internal Control and risk management

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control and risk
management over financial, operational and compliance issues for
the year 2023. The Audit Committee concluded that, in general,
the Group has set up a sound control environment and installed
necessary control mechanisms to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board, through the review of the Audit Committee,
is satisfied that the Group in 2023, fully complied with the code
provisions on internal controls and risk management as set forth in
the Code. The Audit Committee also concluded that the Group has
employed sufficient staff for the propose of accounting, financial and
internal control. The Group has internal audit department.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are KTC Partners CPA Limited.
The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing auditors’
objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and it has:

e  determined the framework for the type and authorisation of non-
audit services for which the external auditors may provide. In
general, the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services is prohibited except for tax related services;
and

e agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2023, the remuneration payable to the Company’s external
auditors for audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB1,250,000 and RMB137,000 respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that KTC Partners CPA
Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Tse Chun Lai (“Mr. Tse”) has been appointed as the Company
Secretary and the Authorised Representative on January 2020. For
details, please refer to page 70 to this report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and
quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the
Company’s website at https://mediumir.com/c08270/en/index.php.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, save for the adoption
of the new Bye-Laws at the annual general meeting held on 31
May 2023, there had been no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES

The Group primarily focuses on the extraction, liquefaction
production, and sales of natural gas. Additionally, the Group engages
in the sales of liquefied coalbed gas, offers gas supply connection
services, and manufactures and distributes polyethylene (“PE”) gas
pipelines through its subsidiaries. This Environmental, Social, and
Governance (“ESG”) report (the “Report”) articulates the Board’s
dedication to sustainable development practices and outlines its
vision for addressing the challenges posed by climate change.

Recognizing the potential environmental impact of its operations,
particularly concerning climate change, the Group remains steadfast
in its commitment to sustainable development. To this end, the
Group has implemented various measures to mitigate its business’s
environmental footprint. These include optimizing its production
processes to minimize energy consumption, adopting advanced
technologies to enhance the efficiency of natural gas utilization,
and establishing a comprehensive monitoring system to track and
manage emissions. Moreover, the Group has pledged to invest in
renewable energy sources and explore low-carbon technologies to
further reduce its carbon footprint.

Furthermore, the Group is dedicated to promoting sustainable
development within the communities where it operates. The Group
actively collaborates with local stakeholders to identify and address
environmental and social concerns, such as safeguarding water
resources, preserving biodiversity, and fostering local economic
development. Additionally, the Group has forged partnerships
with academic and research institutions to advance scientific
understanding of climate change and facilitate the development of
innovative solutions.

In summary, the Group’s sustainable development objectives
underscore its unwavering commitment to environmental
stewardship, social responsibility, and economic viability. By
continually striving to mitigate the impacts of climate change, the
Group is positioning itself for sustained success in an evolving global
landscape.
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Sustainability Statement of the Board

As a group engaged in the exploitation, liquefaction production, and
sales of natural gas, we are dedicated to conducting our business in
a sustainable manner. Acknowledging the impact of our operations
on the environment and society, we are resolute in minimizing this
impact while ensuring the enduring viability of our endeavours.

We actively take measures to mitigate the risks associated with
climate change and diminish our carbon footprint. Through
investments in cutting-edge technology and equipment, we enhance
the efficiency of our operations while reducing greenhouse gas
emissions. Moreover, we explore emerging technologies to decrease
our reliance on fossil fuels and transition towards renewable energy
sources.

We are also committed to upholding the highest standards of safety
and environmental protection in our operations. We regularly review
and improve our safety protocols and environmental management
systems to minimize the risk of accidents and prevent pollution. We
also strive to promote responsible waste management and minimize
the use of hazardous materials in our production processes.

We prioritize the protection of biodiversity and water resources in
the regions where we operate. Implementing monitoring systems,
we ensure that our operations do not compromise local ecosystems
or disrupt water resources. Additionally, we engage with local
communities and stakeholders to align our operations with their
interests and ensure long-term sustainability. Through employment
and training programs, as well as corporate social responsibility
initiatives, we contribute to social and economic development in
these communities.

Recognizing the significant risks posed by climate change to our
business and stakeholders, we are committed to strategic planning
and adaptation measures. Continuously monitoring and assessing
the impacts of our operations, we proactively undertake steps to
ensure the sustainable development of our business.
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In summary, we are steadfast in conducting our business in a
sustainable and responsible manner. Through ongoing innovation and
collaboration, we endeavour to minimize our environmental impact
and foster the sustainable development of the communities where
we operate.

ESG Approach and Commitment

Recognizing the pivotal role of ESG factors in determining a
company’s non-financial performance, valuation, risk management,
and regulatory compliance, the Group has embraced a
comprehensive approach to ESG reporting. This entails assessing
and evaluating ESG-related risks, reporting performance, setting
strategic goals, overseeing management effectiveness, and
ensuring operational compliance with pertinent legal and regulatory
requirements.

The Group is steadfast in conducting business in a manner that
respects and benefits its employees, customers, investors, and
the communities in which it operates. The Report offers both
qualitative insights and quantitative data to illustrate the Group’s ESG
performance and unwavering commitment to sustainability.

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Report underscores the Group’s unwavering commitment
to sustainable development practices and outlines a clear vision
for addressing climate change. It serves as a valuable resource
for stakeholders seeking insights into the Group’s sustainability
performance and endeavours to foster a more sustainable future.
Notably, the Group has taken measures to ensure consistency
between the Chinese and English versions of the Report. The Board’s
review and approval of the Report on 27 March 2024 marked a
significant milestone in the Group’s sustainability journey.
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Reporting Period

The Report showcases the Group’s strides toward achieving
sustainability goals through environmental and social performance
during the reporting period spanning from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Scope

The Report offers a comprehensive overview of the Group’s
performance across environmental, social, and governance
considerations. With investments in exploration and exploitation
businesses within the coalbed methane (“CBM”) blocks in
Yangcheng, Shanxi, the PRC. The Group operates from its
headquarters in Beijing, with additional offices in Tianjin, Cangzhou,
and Hong Kong. Distribution businesses are conducted in Shanxi
Province and Hebei Province in the PRC.

By spotlighting the Group’s policies, management approach, and
performance in its core business areas, the Report illustrates
the Group’s commitment to fostering sustainable development
amid a swiftly evolving landscape. Prepared in accordance with
reporting principles of materiality, quantitative analysis, balance,
and consistency, the Report reflects the Group’s dedication to data
gathering, analysis, policy formulation, implementation, and progress
monitoring.

Reporting Framework

The Report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) contained in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) published by the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Report complied with the “comply or explain” provisions of the
ESG Reporting Guide. For a comprehensive reference, a full list of
ESG aspects, along with their respective key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) and their references within the Report, is provided at the end
of the Report for easy access and consultation.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Effective stakeholder engagement is paramount for the success of
any business, particularly in light of the pressing need to address
environmental and social issues. As a responsible enterprise
committed to sustainable development, the Group acknowledges
the significance of engaging with a diverse range of stakeholders,
including policymakers, regulators, employees, investors, customers,
suppliers, and community members. This engagement allows the
Group to comprehend its expectations and concerns fully.

By actively listening to and valuing stakeholder input, the Group
can identify potential risks and opportunities related to its business
development strategies, internal control systems, and corporate
governance, as well as assess potential ESG impacts. The Group
employs various communication approaches to engage with
stakeholders and gather their valuable thoughts and ideas. This
collaborative process enables the Group to shape future business
strategies that generate long-term value for its stakeholders and
contribute to a more sustainable future.

The table below provides an overview of key stakeholders, their ESG
concerns, and the corresponding communication approaches utilized
to engage with them:
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BHE ESGEA X & BEAR
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Stakeholder ESG Concerns Communication Approaches
BHE ESGRE: & BEAR
Employees e Workplace safety, diversity and e Regular meetings and team briefings
inclusion e Performance appraisals
e Rights and benefits of employees e Employee trainings
e Training and development e Notices and circulars
e Emails and other electronic
communications
== o I{EGMEE Zim s THERKEKER
o [EEMERNMERN s BEREX
o IHFIEER o [EEHFII
s BMNAE
e BENHMEFBEA
Investors e ESG performance, long-term e |nvestor presentations, shareholder
sustainability meetings
e Business strategies and e Annual general meetings
performances e Financial statements, reports and
e Corporate Governance announcements
® Investment returns
REH o ESGHEM RHRELRE s KREEHEHENEG BEXEG
o XM MK e RREAFAE
e BEER o UBHE WELAE
o IHEMHR
Customers e Product sustainability e Customer surveys
e  Service quality e Feedback mechanisms
e Business credibility
e  Ethical sourcing
®F e EmAIFEN s EFHRET
e RIEEE o [REEHLHI
. ﬁ%ﬁ—
s ATERRENRE
Suppliers e Supply chain sustainability e Supplier assessments
e Responsible sourcing e Engagement meetings
e Financial stability e Contracts and agreements
e Demand stability e Supplier conferences
fHtrER o HEREMAFEL o HERRTE
e BEMEKE e ZHEEH
o WMBREIE e ESRKHHE
o FRIBEM e HEmAE
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Stakeholder ESG Concerns Communication Approaches
& ESGE X & BEAR
Community Members e  Environmental impact e Corporate website

e Employment opportunities
e Social responsibility

HEME s REFE
° HEKE
e HEEME

Through these collaborative efforts, the Group strives to foster
meaningful dialogue and partnerships with its stakeholders, driving
positive change and advancing its commitment to sustainable
development.

Stakeholders’ Feedback

The Group warmly welcomes stakeholders’ comments and
feedback regarding its approach and performance on ESG aspects,
recognizing their invaluable contribution to the Group’s continuous
improvement and sustainability efforts. If you have any questions,
suggestions, or recommendations for the Group, please feel free to
send them to:

Room 20, 19/F, Fortune Commercial Building, 362 Sha Tsui Road,
Tsuen Wan, N.T., Hong Kong

Email: admin@ccbmgroup.com

e Community forums

e Media enquiry

e Press releases and announcements
UI/NS FEhr
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o BELH

e HERMEASE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To ensure a comprehensive understanding of stakeholder views
and expectations regarding the Group’s ESG performance, the
Group conducts an annual materiality assessment. This vital process
evaluates the importance of ESG issues to the stakeholders and
identifies relevant ESG-related risks and opportunities.

In determining the significance of potential ESG issues, the Group
engages with stakeholders through various communication
approaches, including management reviews, industry analysis,
and stakeholder engagement exercises. This collaborative effort
allows the Group to discern stakeholder expectations and concerns
accurately. By prioritizing efforts to address the most significant ESG
issues, the Group aims to create long-term value for its stakeholders
while advancing its commitment to sustainability.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Natural gas, renowned for its cleaner combustion compared to coal
or oil, stands as a pivotal resource in energy production. Typically
nestled underground within rock formations or CBM pockets, it is
extracted through meticulous well drilling processes. As of December
31, 2023, the Group has successfully concluded groundwork and
drilling for 229 CBM wells, with 164 presently yielding natural gas.

Dedicated to fostering environmentally responsible practices, the
Group has integrated energy-efficient technologies, sustainable
materials, and waste reduction strategies into its operations.
Employees and contractors undergo rigorous training to uphold
stringent controls and monitoring protocols for emissions and
waste generation. Moreover, administrative tasks, research and
development endeavours, and trading activities are predominantly
conducted indoors to mitigate environmental impact.

Upon extraction and treatment, the natural gas traverses through
underground pipelines to reach commercial consumers. The Group
remains steadfast in its commitment to upholding and enforcing
its environmental management policy, ensuring the sustainable
production and delivery of natural gas to meet the escalating energy
needs of its clientele.

Emissions Policy

To uphold the corporate principle that “Social Responsibility is of
Overriding Importance to the Group” and to reinforce its dedication
to long-term environmental sustainability, the Group has placed
paramount importance on environmental awareness and sustainability
within its operations, especially within the burgeoning new energy
sector. Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group remained
steadfast in its adherence to all relevant government regulations and
industry standards to guarantee the secure transportation, storage,
and distribution of natural gas. These regulations encompass, but are
not limited to:

e  The Environmental Protection Law of the PRC.

e  The Energy Conservation Law of the PRC.
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° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution.

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Pollution from
Environmental Noise.

e [ aw of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste.

By meticulously adhering to these regulations, the Group not only
safeguards the environment but also ensures the safety and well-
being of its employees and the neighbouring communities.

Carbon Footprint - Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Carbon footprint refers to the total amount of direct and indirect
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, measured in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“CO,-e") emissions. During the Reporting Period,
the Group’s operations covered an area of 300,107.65 square meters
(2022: 300,307.65 m?), including its headquarters, offices, and
subsidiaries, and accounted for 100% of its GHG emissions.

The Group generated a total net of 80,754.01 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“tCO,-e”) emissions in the form of carbon dioxide,
methane, and nitrous oxide during the Reporting Period (2022:
74,587.61 tCO,-e). The primary source of GHG emissions for the
Group was electricity used for operational purposes. The carbon
emission intensity increased by 47.5% vyear-over-year to 336.88
tCOs-e/million RMB revenue (2022: 228.44 tCO,-e/million RMB
revenue). The heightened intensity was primarily attributable to the
decrease in natural gas prices during the Reporting Period, resulting
in lower revenue for the Group.
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The Group has implemented robust measures to manage its
emissions and resource consumption effectively. These initiatives
include the deployment of energy-efficient lighting, the practice of
turning off idle lighting, computers, and electrical appliances and
equipment, diligent monitoring of water consumption, utilization of
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digital technology and recycled paper, promotion of public transport &:EAA S HR B L = - NEB IR
usage, and adoption of teleconferencing or video conferencing as — BR&EIA Tk
alternatives to business travel. The carbon footprint for the Group is
provided in the following table:
Scope Sources of GHG emissions 2023 2022 2021
&E a2 R HERUR == —= —E-—F
GHG” emissions (in tCO,-e)
BERE ENE (U -FtREE)
1 Stationary (Natural gas) 5,881.82 15,280.46 10,586.30
EE (RAR)
Mobile — Gasoline & diesel 197.92 159.76 287.51
&) — T K e
2 Purchased electricity 74,691.67 59,068.57 35,722.03
HNEE
3 Disposal of paper waste 15.03 15.91 12.66
EEER
Fresh water processing 45.57 41.84 30.49
BRIERIK
Sewage water processing 22.00 21.07 15.36
AEDEVIN
Total GHG” emissions 80,754.01 74,587.61 46,654.35
BEREEHENE
Carbon Emission intensity per m? 0.269 0.248 0.142
BE A RRBEREE
Carbon Emission intensity per million RMB revenue? 336.88 228.44 216.87
BEBARBBABEREE"

A The GHG is calculated according to the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or
Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong” jointly published by Environmental Protection
Department and Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

# During the Reporting Period, the total revenue of the Group was RMB239,706,000.00
(2022: RMB326,508,485.00, 2021: RMB215,125,000.00).

A ORERBDREBERERETRERETREHAHM
W(ERREY (BX EEALAARINERER
BHERMRBNRENRERES) 5

# RBEHRMB TXEBOHBRARARE
239,706,000.00L (Z T F : AR¥
326,508,485.00L' — T - —F: AR¥
215,125,000.007T )
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Air emission REHEK

While natural gas is considered a cleaner fuel source compared HR KRR REE — GLIR MKER
to other fossil fuels due to its combustion producing only carbon FH itk KA R A — L E (b A E
dioxide and water vapor, it primarily consists of methane, a potent & ZHIBAEI IR R AR KRR T ERK
greenhouse gas with 82 times the warming potential of carbon 2Rkt Pl — @ AERE E2EE
dioxide. To mitigate methane emissions, preventive measures have 1174 — & LAk /8215 o A BB F
been instituted to address potential leakage from CBM wells, storage /92 £ ER B 15 iie » 2RI B @ - fh i~
tanks, pipelines, and processing plants. These efforts involve the EERINTHAIELRFROME-EH
construction of preventive infrastructure and the implementation of 8 e % & 22 4 78 B 14 EL % 5% e N2 R 1T B A%
stringent monitoring protocols to minimize adverse environmental HIESBIMRIE LB E M L HIR BN T H &
impacts. &

Additionally, the Group recognizes the significant contribution to  Ith4h REE EH B = RI5EHN E B HRR
air pollution stemming from gasoline and diesel-powered vehicles 2 8 T B %) K& & FTE A/ m L5 mns
used for employee commuting and transportation. The combustion ~ H /58« /SE S BEREZZFMRE S HEH S
of these fuels in vehicle engines emits various air pollutants, BZER AV BELEREE -5l K&
exacerbating air quality concerns. To combat this, the Group is ETEBEENR S £ A THIE R TEH QK
dedicated to reducing air pollution by actively encouraging employees @B T E & Hi@ b= R5% - REB G
to utilize public transportation whenever feasible. The estimated air  stREEHFMEH N T &

emissions for the Group are provided in the following table:

Types of Pollutants Vel 3k ki) 2023 2022 2021
—E-= —E=-= —E_—F
Emission Data (kilogram) (“kg”)

BB (T=) ([Fx=]1)

Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) ARILYINO,) 197.64 196.65 235.88*
Sulphur Dioxide (SO,) — &AL (SO,) 1.23 0.99 1.59
Particulate Matter SR 18.20 18.21 21.57*
* Estimated mileage driven during the Reporting Period * MEHANGETITRER
Reducing Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste BMOBEEREEREY

The extraction of natural gas often yields substantial volumes XAARHFEBREF BEFEHBELEARE
of contaminated water alongside the gas, necessitating proper HS/K HFEBETEENEREE HENE
handling, storage, and treatment to prevent land and water source ¥+ BARH 1F35 2 4 3 K2 KR o 1 1% B 5=
contamination. Wastewater extracted from CBM wells undergoes HH) /5K & XTI EMNERIEMETHFAE
meticulous processing at dedicated treatment plants before disposal, 2 HBEZBHETES B A EFE AL
reuse, reinjection into formations, or desalination in evaporation Sk T 2 B R 1T B BE AL - I RS HA
ponds. During the Reporting Period, 24,000 m® (2022: 21,000.00 m®) [ RiZZF R iEETTH 57K R IE € A24,000
of wastewater underwent treatment at these facilities. YK (ZF = =4 :21,000.0037 5 K) e
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Natural gas processing and purification entail the separation of
diverse hydrocarbons and fluids through chemical and mechanical
means, potentially generating hazardous waste requiring specialized
treatment and disposal. The Group diligently tracks and documents
the solid and liquid waste produced by its operations, actively
pursuing sustainable waste management strategies to regulate,
document, and oversee overall waste generation and disposal
processes.

Furthermore, the Group addresses non-hazardous waste, such
as paper and printed materials, which amounted to 15.03 tCO,-e
(2022: 15.91 tCOs-e) in GHG emissions during the Reporting
Period. Employee-generated municipal solid waste is also managed
conscientiously. All non-hazardous waste undergoes proper
classification based on recyclability and is collected for recycling and
disposal in accordance with established protocols.

Promoting Sustainable Resources Use

The Group actively promotes efficient resource utilization by fostering
environmental awareness among its employees. Throughout the
Reporting Period, the Group’s primary resource consumption
included electricity, diesel, gasoline, natural gas, water, and paper,
with no need for packaging materials in its business operations.

Fossil Fuel Consumption - Diesel, Gasoline and Natural
Gas

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group utilized 3,056,414.00 m?
of natural gas for operational purposes and employee housing,
constituting 7.3% of its total carbon footprint. This marks a decrease
from the consumption of 7,940,303.55 m?® in 2022. Additionally, the
Group utilized 48,898.99 litres of gasoline and 31,451.82 litres of
diesel for its motor vehicles, with a focus on regular maintenance to
ensure optimal performance and fuel efficiency.

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to sustainability and
will explore the feasibility of transitioning to electric vehicles as part
of its ongoing efforts to reduce carbon emissions and minimize
environmental impact.
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MERRERIR) MEEREEREHERES
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WS biREE) o B B EER T E EEEE
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RETFHERERER

AEEEBELE THRRER BER
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BT BEREEREEN S TR
RAR KRMEE ELBE B BBER
EITECR

L BRBUEFE—SRE - VMR RARR

REERERH AESEREERET
¥ & £ {# 3,056,414.0032 T K KA R
HEARETHN7T3% BR_E -8
7,940,303.55 . T K EREE B TR D o it
O AR E B 87 B A 748,898.99F /7
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Energy Consumption - Electricity

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total electricity
consumption amounted to 79,193,424.13 kilowatt-hours (‘kWh”),
representing 92.4% of its total carbon footprint. This consumption
was predominantly attributed to various operations, including
natural gas liquefaction, machinery and equipment usage, lighting,
air-conditioning, and electrical and thermal appliances.

In the ongoing commitment to energy conservation and sustainability,
the Group remains dedicated to monitoring and improving its
performance in electricity consumption. By implementing measures
to enhance energy efficiency and reduce carbon footprint, the Group
aims to contribute positively to environmental preservation and
long-term sustainability.

Water Consumption

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group encountered no
challenges in sourcing water to meet its operational needs, with
a total freshwater consumption of 104,758.73 cubic meters (m?).
Although specific water consumption data for office usage couldn’t
be disclosed due to inclusion in property management fees and
minimal usage, the Group maintains its dedication to conserving the
planet’s water resources and diligently avoids unnecessary wastage.

Paper and Printed Matters Consumption

The Group’s total paper consumption amounted to 3,132.04
kilograms during the Reporting Period, primarily utilized for
administrative, marketing, and report publication purposes.
Reduction of paper consumption within office operations stands as
a pivotal environmental objective for the Group, with all employees
actively encouraged to reuse and recycle paper to minimize waste.
Furthermore, the Group advocates for the adoption of email
and digital media for communication endeavours, furthering its
commitment to sustainability.
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Additionally, the following table provides a summary of the Group’s
resource consumption:

BRI - HEREREE

BEAN TREBHERASEEREERE

Scope Sources of GHG emissions 2023 2022

gE BREREHHKRR —EC-=R e -3
Consumption Intensity Consumption Intensity
HAEE BE HEE BE
1 Stationary - (Natural gas) 3,056,414.00 m? 10.18 m¥/m? 7,940,303.55 m? 26.44 m®/m?
EE- (R%R) 3,056,414.001 5% 1018 A K/ F Kk 794030355 K 26443 f KT K
Mobile - Gasoline & Diesel 80,350.81 litres 0.82 tCO,-¢ per capita 65,299.00 litres 0.67 tCO,-e per capita
B8 —h R 80,350.817 A0.82M —AfikE 2 65,299.007 A¥0.67TH_EHEE
2 Purchased electricity 79,193,424.13 KWh 263.88 kWh/m? 62,712,867.30 kWh 208.83 kWh/m?
INEED 79,193,424.13F REs  263.88F BB/ FHk 62,712,867.30F LB 208.83F R Fs /T 7%
3 Disposal of paper waste 3,132.04 kg 0.06 tCO,-¢e per capita 3,315.71 kg 0.07 tCO»-¢ per capita
FERM 3132.04F% AH0.06M _E1LHE S 3315.71F 7 AMOOTH—&fLiEE
Water processing 104758.73 m? 0.28 tCO,-¢ per capita 108,313.70 m® 0.26 tCO,-¢ per capita
RIE K 104758.731 K AJ0.28 —AfriiE 2 1033137002 77K AM0.26MF A kit E &

Protecting the Environment and Natural Resources

As beneficiaries of natural resources and the environment, the
Group upholds the responsibility to safeguard them. Environmental
considerations are integrated into all facets of business development,
with adherence to industry standards, regulatory compliance,
establishment, and periodic review of safety and environmental
objectives. The Group actively mitigates its impact on ecology,
surface water, noise, and solid waste, employing standardized
measures to restore and preserve the original ecological and
geomorphological integrity post-well excavation. Notably, no new
wells were exploited by the Group during the Reporting Period,
underscoring its commitment to environmental preservation.
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Tackling Climate Change

Climate change poses multifaceted risks to the Group, categorized
into physical, transitional, and reputational risks.

Physical Risks: Extreme weather events stemming from climate
change, such as floods, droughts, and storms, could disrupt the
Group’s supply chain and operations, impacting coalbed methane
and natural gas resource quality and quantity, thereby affecting
production volumes, escalating costs, and diminishing revenue.

Transitional Risks: The shift towards a low-carbon economy,
driven by governmental initiatives to reduce fossil fuel dependency
and promote renewable energy, may necessitate adjustments to
the Group’s business model. Anticipated changes in policy and
regulations could inflate compliance costs and tax burdens.

Reputational Risks: The Group faces reputational risks associated
with its ties to the fossil fuel sector and its environmental impact.
Heightened stakeholder focus on sustainability demands a
demonstrable commitment to eco-friendly practices. Failure to uphold
sustainable standards may tarnish the Group’s reputation and imperil
its long-term viability.

In response, the Group has devised comprehensive strategies to
manage and mitigate climate-related risks. Initiatives encompass
emission reduction, supply chain diversification, stakeholder
engagement to heighten climate risk awareness, and integration of
climate risk considerations into decision-making processes. Ongoing
monitoring and review of risk management strategies ensure
adaptability to evolving climate risks, underscoring the Group’s
dedication to resilience and sustainability.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment Policy

At the core of the Group’s ethos lies the corporate philosophy of
“establishing trust worldwide and fostering wisdom in our cities.”
Embodying this ethos, the Group invests in cultivating a committed
and skilled workforce, nurturing a culture of positivity and productivity
conducive to high performance and excellence. Through the creation
of a stimulating yet harmonious workplace environment, the Group
endeavours to attract and retain top talent within the industry.

Adherence to the employment regulations is a cornerstone of the
Group’s operations. Acknowledging that employees are its most
invaluable asset and crucial to realizing the corporate vision of low-
carbon and clean energy development, the Group prioritizes the
promotion of corporate social responsibility and sustainability.

In championing diversity and excellence, the Group ensures equal
opportunities across various facets of employment, including
recruitment, training, career progression, and compensation and
benefits. The Group’s performance management framework aims
to incentivize and acknowledge employees’ contributions through a
robust performance appraisal system, evaluating job performance,
skills, and accomplishments.

Central to fostering a transparent and equitable work environment
is the Group’s employee handbook-a vital resource providing
comprehensive guidance on employment and labour standards,
business ethics, workplace health and safety, compensation and
benefits, and management protocols. Serving as a tool to delineate
management expectations and safeguard employees against unfair
treatment and discrimination, the handbook plays a pivotal role
in fostering mutual understanding and accountability within the
workforce. The table provided illustrates the Group’s employee
demographic breakdown.
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Employee Structure 2023 2022 2021
EE&E —=—-= —==-= —E-—&
Total number of employees 240 238 336
EEAY
By gender Male 66.7% 66.4% 73.5%
R B & 5 S
Female 33.3% 33.6% 26.5%
M
By age 18-25 7.9% 8.8% 8.0%
REWRE D 18255,
26-35 38.8% 39.9% 44.9%
26Z355%
36-45 28.8% 27.8% 29.2%
36ZE4575%
46-55 14.2% 13.0% 11.9%
46E 555,
56 or above 10.4% 10.5% 6.0%
561% M A
By employee category Senior Management 12.1% 12.2% 5.4%
REEER &S BREREE
Middle Management 10.8% 11.3% 14.0%
hREREE
Junior staff 77.1% 76.5% 80.6%
MF/ET

The Group places a significant emphasis on managing employee
turnover and is committed to retaining its top talent to cultivate a
stable and productive work environment. Despite experiencing a
degree of turnover due to the disposal of a subsidiary, the Group
has proactively implemented various strategies to address this
challenge. To bolster employee retention, the Group has prioritized
enhancing employee engagement, providing comprehensive training
and development opportunities, offering competitive compensation
and benefits packages, and fostering transparent communication
between management and employees. These initiatives are tailored
to enhance employee satisfaction and foster a positive work culture
conducive to long-term commitment. The Group remains steadfast in
its dedication to maintaining a highly skilled and dedicated workforce
capable of driving the organization’s long-term success.
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Percentage of Employee Turnover Rate 2023 2022
EBERLXEBTL —s=-= —E=—-=
By gender Male 17.6% 23.2%
R B &l 2 S
Female 17.5% 28.7%
g
By age 18-25 25.0% 40.0%
RERED 18255,
26-35 13.8% 25.0%
26Z%355%
36-45 17.8% 24.6%
36E 455,
46-55 27.7% 9.8%
46E 555,
56 or above 12.0% 35.3%
56 M A £
By employee category Senior Management 3.5% 16.9%
RESEH&E S RRERE
Middle Management 30.2% 32.0%
RARERE
Junior staff 18.0% 25.5%
MFET
Occupational Health and Safety Policy BERREZZHE

The Group places paramount importance on occupational health and
safety to uphold a secure working environment for its employees,
recognizing the stringent safety regulations and standards inherent
in natural gas production, transportation, distribution, and storage.
Management shoulders the responsibility for providing a safe working
environment in alignment with relevant statutory and industrial
requisites, adhering to Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases, and the Measures for the Declaration of Projects with
Occupational Hazards in the PRC.
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In safeguarding employee well-being, the Group’s occupational health
management team diligently oversees compliance with occupational
health management and disease prevention regulations. Equipping
employees with essential personal protective equipment, including
gowns, helmets, gloves, eyewear, and face masks, underscores
the Group’s commitment to safety. Furthermore, the team conducts
regular supervision and inspection of safety protocols, fostering a
culture of awareness and prevention through employee education
initiatives.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group remains vigilant,
providing surgical masks and alcohol-based hand rub at operational
sites while facilitating remote work arrangements and virtual meetings
to minimize physical contact. These measures underscore the
Group’s dedication to employee welfare amidst evolving health
challenges.

Ensuring employees are well-prepared and informed, the Group
conducts regular occupational health and safety communications
through recurrent trainings, briefings, and notices. Throughout the
Reporting Period, the Group remained vigilant, with no instances
of non-compliance concerning health and safety-related laws and
regulations coming to light.
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fem URERLFEEE -ZEHBER
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=37 38 T B A R R N R A Y Y 5 E
ETREREREZE2BE -NEBERSH
Bl REERRRFER WEERTME
RiEERER 2 REEREPERABIR

2023 2022 2021
Occupational Health and Safety Data B¥@EEHEZ2HE —EZ=f ZE-C —E-—F
Number of work injury cases TiEEZREE 0 0 0
Number of work-related fatalities TYEMRRB T AR 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury TEBLATERH 0 0 0
Work injury rate TiEX 0 0 0
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Employee Development and Training

Within the natural gas industry, employee development and
training stand as paramount priorities for the Group’s human
capital enhancement. The Group is deeply committed to fostering
and supporting its employees in realizing their full potential. To
this end, the Group offers an extensive array of in-house training
programs designed to cultivate competence and skill among its
workforce. Additionally, the Group sponsors external professional
and qualification training opportunities, empowering employees to
augment their capabilities and advance along their career trajectories.

Embracing a culture of continuous improvement, the Group
encourages employees to pursue excellence in both their work
and personal development endeavours. To facilitate this, the Group
champions lifelong learning initiatives and provides educational
allowances, equipping employees with the resources needed to
broaden their knowledge and enhance their career prospects.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group diligently tracked and
recorded the average number of training hours for employees,
as detailed in the accompanying table. Committed to ongoing
enhancement, the Group continually evaluates its employee
development and training programs to ensure alignment with the
evolving needs of its workforce and organizational objectives. By
investing in the professional growth of its employees, the Group is
confident in its ability to attract and retain top-tier talent, thereby
bolstering its overall success trajectory.
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Training Hours 2023 2022 2021
¥Z 2| B By —E-= —_E-— —E_—F
Total (hours) 13,772.0 13,125.0 18,998.0
B

Average (per employee) (hours) 57.4 551 56.5

BREEFHIZIEH
By Gender (Average training hours and percentage of
employees who received training)

ZHRE D (FERISBRZIEESTIL)

Male By hour 65.3 63.1 N/A+
E:) RN TiE A+
By percentage 100% 100% N/A+
- d=lalnd i+
Female By hour 415 40.0 N/A+
peg i3 RN R TE A+
By percentage 100% 100% N/A+
- d=lalnd AN3E A+

By Employee Category (Average training hours and
percentage of employees who received training)
REEERNE S (FHFINFERZIEET D)

Senior management By hour 45.6 43.3 50.1
EREEE BN

By percentage 100% 100% N/A+

EESL TER+
Middle management By hour 57.6 57.3 87.1
PREERE BN

By percentage 100% 100% N/A+

- d= g A+
Junior staff By hour 59.2 56.8 73.9
ARET =N B

By percentage 100% 100% N/A+

ZEat TE A+

+ Data not available + AR SR
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Labour Practices and Compliance

Compliance with pertinent employment laws and regulations,
including those addressing child and forced labour practices, holds
utmost importance for the Group. To ensure employees are well-
versed in the standards governing their employment, the Group has
meticulously structured its employee handbook to encompass crucial
ground rules and regulations pertaining to remuneration and benefits,
leave and holidays, training and development, business conduct and
ethics, and occupational health and safety.

Adhering to rigorous guidelines and procedures outlined in its
recruitment policy, the Group endeavours to recruit suitable talent
in full compliance with relevant labour laws, job requirements, and
candidate expectations.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group remained vigilant and
diligent in its compliance efforts, with no instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations identified that would have significantly
impacted the Group. Areas including compensation and dismissal,
recruitment or promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare remained in adherence to regulatory standards.

The Group maintains an unwavering commitment to upholding
compliance with all applicable labour laws and regulations,
underscoring its dedication to fostering a safe, fair, and supportive
workplace environment for all employees.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management and Supplier Engagement

The Group places paramount importance on transparency and
integrity within its supply chains, striving to uphold the highest
standards of ethical business conduct. To achieve this, the Group
has implemented a stringent procurement policy, ensuring the
fair, honest, and competitive procurement of goods and services,
optimizing cost performance.
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Recognizing the significance of collaborative partnerships with
suppliers in enhancing operational efficiency and service quality, the
Group employs a rigorous tendering process and selection criteria.
Suppliers are evaluated based on their reputation, financial reliability,
product quality, and price stability. Preference is given to suppliers
holding environmental management certification, aligning with the
Group’s sustainability objectives. The procurement department,
overseeing the Group’s supply chain, is responsible for sourcing
supplies and managing a roster of 801 approved suppliers in Hong
Kong and the PRC during the Reporting Period. Regular performance
reviews of these suppliers are conducted to maintain the
effectiveness and efficiency of the Group's supply chain operations.

Product Responsibility and Quality Assurance Process

Committed to delivering a dependable supply of natural gas to its
customers, the Group has established a robust product responsibility
and quality assurance process. Comprehensive measures are
undertaken to ensure that products and services adhere to the
highest standards of quality and safety.

Routine checks and maintenance of transportation pipeline pressure
gauges ensure the reliability of the supply chain, while semi-
annual gas quality analyses by The Municipal Bureau of Quality and
Technical Supervision in the PRC verify compliance with prescribed
specifications. Continuous monitoring of daily production capacity
maintains a consistent and stable supply of natural gas. Gas
measuring instruments and components undergo annual calibration
and testing to ensure precision in measurement, ultimately ensuring
customer satisfaction.

The Group remains steadfast in upholding these standards and
providing customers with the best possible products and services.
Throughout the Reporting Period, to the best of its knowledge, the
Group did not receive any complaints regarding the products sold or
services provided, underscoring its commitment to excellence and
customer satisfaction.
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Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policy

The Group places paramount importance on safeguarding the data
of its employees, customers, and suppliers, prioritizing their privacy
and confidentiality. To this end, the Group strictly adheres to the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong and the Personal
Information Protection Law (PIPL) in the PRC, mandating employees
to uphold the integrity and confidentiality of data when utilizing
company computers for data processing. Comprehensive measures
have been implemented, including access passwords to secure
servers and computers, with employees tasked with the protection
of personal data, trade secrets, and proprietary information obtained
from employees, customers, and suppliers. The Group’s employee
handbook outlines detailed guidelines on document confidentiality
and computer security, ensuring that employees are fully aware of
their responsibilities in maintaining data integrity and privacy.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

Recognizing the paramount importance of its corporate logo
and domain names in defining the Group’s brand and corporate
identity, the Group has diligently registered them and adheres
strictly to intellectual property (“IP”) rights regulations. Confident in
its comprehensive approach, the Group has implemented robust
measures to safeguard its own IP rights and respect those of third
parties.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group has remained vigilant
in monitoring and protecting its intellectual property assets. No
significant instances of infringement of either the Group’s IP rights or
those of third parties have been encountered. This underscores the
Group’s commitment to upholding the integrity of intellectual property
and preserving its brand identity.

Anti-corruption and Conflict of Interest Policy

In adherence to the highest standards of ethical corporate conduct,
the Group’s Code of Ethics mandates compliance with applicable
laws and regulations concerning corruption, extortion, fraudulent
activities, and conflicts of interest for all employees, including
Directors. Prohibiting the offering, solicitation, or acceptance of
anything of material value from colleagues, customers, suppliers, or
competitors, the Group ensures business activities are conducted
with honesty and fairness, strictly adhering to the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Criminal
law of the PRC and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC.
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Directors and employees are obligated to act in the Group’s best
interests, mitigating conflicts between personal or financial interests
and official duties. Any instance wherein employees leverage
authority, influence decisions, or access valuable information for
personal or financial gain is strictly prohibited. Annual disclosure of
potential conflicts of interest is mandatory, requiring Directors and
employees to complete a disclosure form to uphold transparency
and integrity within the Group.

Preventive Measures and Whistle-blowing Procedures

The Group actively promotes a culture of transparency and integrity,
encouraging employees to report any suspected instances of
corruption, misconduct, conflicts of interest, or malpractice through
confidential whistleblowing procedures. Reported cases are diligently
investigated by the Group’s Audit Committee, ensuring swift and
impartial resolution. To reinforce ethical standards, employees are
provided with a copy of the Group’s Code of Ethics, reaffirming their
commitment to upholding the Group’s principles.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group disseminated anti-
corruption information to its employees, fostering awareness and
adherence to relevant laws and regulations. Notably, no instances of
non-compliance were observed during this period. Additionally, the
Group and its employees have not been implicated in any corruption
litigation, underscoring the Group’s steadfast commitment to ethical
conduct and corporate integrity.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
Community Engagement

As a socially responsible entity, the Group acknowledges the
significance of engaging with its stakeholders to mitigate potential
environmental and social impacts on the community. Firmly
committed to this ethos, the Group actively seeks opportunities
to support charitable or community events and initiatives aimed
at fostering positive community impact. Through such initiatives,
the Group aims to give back to the community and underscore its
dedication to responsible business practices.
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Environmental Sustainability

Mindful of its environmental footprint, the Group remains steadfast
in its commitment to reducing carbon emissions and advancing
sustainable business practices. Implementing various measures
to curtail energy consumption, minimize waste generation, and
promote the use of eco-friendly products, the Group strives to
mitigate its environmental impact. Furthermore, the Group is actively
exploring innovative technologies and practices to further bolster its
sustainability efforts and minimize ecological footprints.

Employee Well-being

Valuing its workforce as a cornerstone of its success, the Group
prioritizes providing a safe and nurturing work environment for its
employees. Through the implementation of comprehensive policies
and procedures, including health and safety training, regular health
check-ups, and access to counselling services, the Group ensures
the physical and mental well-being of its employees. Additionally,
recognizing the importance of work-life balance, the Group offers
flexible working arrangements to support employees’ holistic well-
being, fostering a positive workplace culture conducive to enhanced
satisfaction and productivity.

Community Support and Charitable Contributions

As a conscientious corporate citizen, the Group remains steadfast
in its commitment to making a positive impact on the communities
it serves. In Qinchi, Shanxi, the epicentre of its operations, the
Group actively supports local events and initiatives. The Group
also contributes to the education of underprivileged children
in the community through scholarship donations and provision
of educational resources. With a steadfast commitment to
environmental conservation, the Group engages in tree-planting
initiatives to mitigate air pollution. Through these concerted efforts,
the Group endeavours to create tangible positive changes within the
community and enhance the well-being of its stakeholders.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDEXES REFERENCE
TABLE:

Reference KPIs of the ESG Reporting Guide
ESGHRERSINBARENERSE

AREARERZ2ER:

Corresponding KPIs
in the sections of the Report

FHREEHIHENHREANER

A. Environment
A RE
A1: Emissions Policies A1.1: Emissions Data
and Compliance Al B BUR
M BERBRERER A1.2: Greenhouse gas emissions
A2 DREREHN
A1.3: Total hazardous waste
A13 BEEVES
A1.4: Total non-hazardous waste
A4 EEEVEE
A1.5: Measures to mitigate emissions
A5 SR B I
A1.6: How hazardous and non-hazardous waste
are handled
A6 BEREBEEENMNEERN
A2: Use of Resources A2.1: Direct and/or indirect energy consumption
Policies A1 EERER/REEERER
A2 ERFEABK A2.2: Water consumption
A2.2 - K ERE
A2.3: Energy use efficiency
A2.3 : BEIR{E A A
A2.4: Issue in sourcing water
A2.4 SREUKREI R E
A2.5: Total packaging materials used
A5 FRRABENKEEE
A3: The Environment and  A3.1: Significant impacts of activities on the

Natural Resources environment and natural resources
Policies A3 EEHRBERAAERNEAY 2

A3 BRERRRERHE

A4: Climate Change A4.1: Significant climate-related issues
Policies M1 ERRIREBRRE

A4 RIRBICEE
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- Emissions Policy
HERBR

- Carbon Footprint - Greenhouse Gas Emissions
RET—REREBHMN

- Air Emission
RN

- Reducing Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste
ROBEREZEY

- Promoting Sustainable Resources Use

REMHESRER

- Emissions Policy
PERIRSR

- Reducing Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste
ROBEREZREY

- Promoting Sustainable Resources Use
REMHEERER

- Protecting The Environment and Natural
Resources
RERERAARER

- Tackling Climate Change
EHRIREL



Reference KPIs of the ESG Reporting Guide
ESGHERCINBRENERSZ
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Corresponding KPIs
in the sections of the Report

ZS

EENTHENBRENER

B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labour
Practices
ERERZIEN
B1: Employment Policies
and Compliance

Bl  ERBEREH

B2: Health and Safety
Policies and
Compliance

B2 BEEZZHEREH

B3: Development and
Training Policies
B3 : R RIEIBEK

B4: Labour Standards
Policies
and Compliance

B4 BTEABRKAR

Operating Practices

&EE

B5: Supply Chain
Management Policies

B5 : fLEEMEEHK

B1.1: Total workforce

Bl EEAH

B1.2: Employee Turnover

Bl.2 : EEMALE

B2.1: Work-related fatalities

B2 AT THAAR

B2.2: Lost days due to work injury.

B2.2 : AIBRATIERE

B2.3: Occupational health and safety measures
adopted

B2.3 MM B X REEL 2 i

B3.1: Employees trained

B3.1:XilEEER

B3.2: Average training hours completed per
employee

B3.2 : BHEE TR M TR

B4.1: Measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour

B4.1 s B EHIMEEAR P ET REHET

B4.2: Steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered

B42  HERERBREBREBIERLARRMN 55

B5.1: Suppliers by geographical region

B5.1 iR &l H e 21 B

B5.2: Practices relating to engaging suppliers

B5.2 - R A HEE BN

B5.3: Practices used to identify environmental and
social risks

B5.3 : BHBAIRE Rt g mBRED

B5.4: Practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers

B5.4 - ERERERE R0 % FARRE m KR H
&l

Employment Policy

S

Labour Practices and Compliance
BIERIRER

Occupational Health and Safety Policy
BERRAZIHE

Employee Development and Training
BB TR L

Employment Policy

S

Labour Practices and Compliance
BTIERIRER

Supply Chain Management and Supplier
Engagement
HERERE RHEEHS A

I
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Reference KPIs of the ESG Reporting Guide
ESGREEIINARENIERESZ

Corresponding KPIs
in the sections of the Report

ZS

EENTHENBRENER

B6: Product Responsibility
Policies and
Compliance

B6 EREAREREH

B7: Anti-corruption Policies
and Compliance
B7  REFHERER

Community Investment

HERE

B8: Community Investment
Policies

BS  HEREKR

B6.1: Percentage of total products sold or shipped

subject to recalls

B6.1 EEXDEXERBHTALPN AL L

B6.2: Products and service related complaints
received

B6.2 : AT B & on S AR5 MO B

B6.3: Practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights
B6.3 - Bt E R RE M EREANED

B6.4: Quality assurance process and recall procedures

B6.4: BT AERERDIER

B6.5: Consumer data protection and privacy policies

B6.5 - A B & ARRE RAL B R

B7.1: Concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices

B7.1: BEEEMBHRARN

B7.2: Preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures

B7.2 - [y sA i R r

B7.3: Anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff
B7.3:MEZKEIREMNREFE

B8.1: Focus areas of contribution
B8 :EIERER

B8.2: Resources contributed
B8.2 : FiBAER
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Product Responsibility and Quality Assurance
Process

EmBERERRE

Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policy
HEEEHRERLEBIER

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights
REAZERE

Anti-corruption Policy and Conflict of Interest
Policy

REBBR RN SERIE

Preventive Measures and Whistle-blowing
Procedures

‘i EmREREF

Community Engagement

itEm2H

Environmental Sustainability
RERFENL

Employee Well-being

EERAL

Community Support and Charitable
Contributions

HEXRREERR
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 61, has been appointed as chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 2006,
Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin Jinran Public Utilities
Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”) (formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock
code: 08290), and was responsible for its business strategies. He
graduated from the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in
engineering in 1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason
Investment Group Company Limited (K2 m B RIEEEF A
FR/AF]). Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company
which holds 290,926,252 Shares in person or through controlled
corporation, representing approximately 74.51% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

Mr. Chang Jian, aged 59, was appointed as an executive director on
June 2019. Mr. Chang has previously studied in the Safe Engineering
department of Beijing Technical College of Economics (3t R 48 %
7). Mr. Chang has over 30 years of experience in industrial
production and safety management. Mr. Chang holds 2,500,000
Shares in person, representing approximately 0.64% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
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Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan, aged 42, was appointed as an non-executive
director on July 2020, Mr. Duan obtained a master degree in
environmental sciences from the China University of Petroleum
(Beijing) (FFEI/AAAE (465)) in 2009. Mr. Duan has extensive
experience in production and liquefaction of coalbed gas. Mr. Duan
holds 125,000 Shares in person, representing approximately 0.03%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.

Mr. Liang Feng, aged 46, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019. Mr. Liang has previously studied in the
Economic Development course offered by the School of Economics
and Management of Tsinghua University. He has over 15 years of
experience in corporate management.

Mr. Wang Chen, aged 38, was appointed as an non-executive
director on June 2019. Mr. Wang has previously studied in Tianjin
Bohai Vocational Technical College ( X3&3%)/&/t T B2 H T 267 ) .
He has over 10 years of experience in corporate management. Mr.
Wang is the son of the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Wang holds
250,000 Shares in person, representing approximately 0.06% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on November 2017. Mr. Lau graduated from the
University of California, Los Angeles with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Business Economics in 1997. Mr. Lau is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Lau has extensive experience in accounting, auditing and
corporate finance. He was () the qualified accountant and company
secretary of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High Technology Corporation
Limited ORI TR EEBIZRI R BBR A Al) (isted on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8301) from April 2005 to
May 2006; (i) the financial controller and company secretary of We
Solutions Limited (former names: Ming Fung Jewellery Group Limited
and O Luxe Holdings Limited) (listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 860) from June 2008 and November
2008 respectively to November 2017; (iii) the group financial controller
and company secretary of AV Promotions Holdings Limited (listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8419) from June
2018 to June 2019; and (iv) the company secretary of Grand T G
Gold Holdings Ltd (KEZESIERBR A A]) (isted on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8299) from January 2019 to
February 2020. Mr. Lau is currently the Company Secretary and Chief
Financial Officer of Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited (listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 3686), and
the independent non-executive director of China Longevity Group
Company Limited (R EI#E X & E B R A 7)) (listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1863).
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Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 77, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director
and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal Industry
in May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital Management
Division and State-owned Assets Management department. In
October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a chief accountant
of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and worked as a
deputy general manager and chief accountant in May 1999. Mr.
Wang was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited and
worked as a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has years of
relevant experience.

Mr. Xu Yuan Jian, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on August 2019. Mr. Xu graduated from Beijing
Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in Chemistry in 1994. He
pursued the doctorate in the National University of Singapore from
1997 to 2000. Mr. Xu has years of working experience in research
areas of organic chemical technology as well as in physiochemical
treatment for organic pollutants.

Senior Management

Mr. Tse Chun Lai, aged 40, was appointed as the company secretary
and authorised representative of the Company on January 2020. Mr.
Tse obtained a degree of bachelor of arts in Accounting and Finance
from Leeds Beckett University (formerly known as Leeds Metropolitan
University). He is a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has over 15 years
of experience in business and taxation advisory. Mr. Tse is currently
the Company Secretary and an authorised representative of Pacific
Legend Group Limited (listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
with stock code: 8547).
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 93 to 94.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31
December 2023 are set out in the consolidated and company
statements of financial position on pages 95 to 96 and note
29 respectively. The cash flows of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 98 to 99.

The Directors of the Company have declared a special dividend of
HK$0.2576 per Share on 19 June 2023, and was made payable on
26 July 2023. With the exception of the special dividend declared,
the Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: NIL).

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 28(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year is set out in
page 97 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 19 to 36 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted
to approximately RMB nil (2022: approximately RMB nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 216.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and
the Company’s articles of association, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB34,184,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB170,401,000). The distributable reserves are
available for distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay
off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2023 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairrman)
Mr. Chang Jian

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Duan Shi Chuan
Mr. Liang Feng
Mr. Wang Chen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong
Mr. Wang Zhi He
Mr. Xu Yuan Jian

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, Mr. Duan Shi Chuan and Mr.
Lau Chun Pong retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors is
the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company.

Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 67 to
page 70 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the
year are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes
or may cause any significant competition with the business of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as

follows:

Long positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company
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Name Capacity interest shares shareholdings

B3, FRBQ

®E 54 BamiME HERGE A BOk

Mr. Wang Zhong Interest of controlled Corporate interest 2,264,812 0.58%
Sheng corporation NAER (Note 1)
TRBLE REEEER (PH3E1)

Beneficial owner Personal 299,028,739 76.59%
ERBAA (BN (Note 2)
(MiE2)

Mr. Chang Jian Beneficial owner Personal 2,500,000 0.64%
BHRELE ExnlEBA A (Note 3)
(FHiEE3)

Mr. Wang Chen Beneficial owner Personal 250,000 0.06%
ITHREE ERfAA fEA (Note 4)
(Fizt4)

Mr. Duan Shi Beneficial owner Personal 125,000 0.03%
Chuan BERHAA EA (Note 5)
BLllkAE (PH7E5)
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Notes:

As at 31 December 2023, Jumbo Lane Investments Limited was interested in
2,264,812 shares.

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in the shares owned by Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng held 299,028,739 long positions in
shares and underlying shares, which are (i) a beneficial owner of 288,661,440 shares
of the Company and (i) a holder of convertible bonds convertible to 10,367,299
conversion shares.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Chang Jian is interested as a beneficial owner of
2,500,000 shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Wang Chen is interested as a beneficial owner of
250,000 shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Duan Shi Chuan is interested as a beneficial owner of
125,000 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND PERSONS
WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding
HE ROHME #=ZME BRESL
Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 301,293,551 Interest of spouse 77.17%
M (FiEE) [N

Note: B 5 -

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be interested in her
spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under to section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children
or chief executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the Shareholders on
18 May 2011, the Company adopted the Previous Share Option
Scheme. Under the Previous Share Option Scheme, the Board
may offer options to the eligible persons prescribed in the Previous
Share Option Scheme in its discretion. The Company had granted
32,119,074 options under the Previous Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for an aggregate of 32,119,074 Shares, of which no
options had been exercised and all the 32,119,074 options have
been lapsed, resulting in no options remained outstanding. The
Previous Share Option Scheme has expired on 18 May 2021.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 28 March 2022, the
Company’s new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted which will remain in force for a period of 10
years from adoption of the New Share Option Scheme and will expire
on 27 March 2032.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 10 March 2022.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the date of its adoption and the
remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2023 is approximately 8.5 years. The number of options available for
grant under the scheme mandate of the New Share Option Scheme
as at 31 December 2023 was zero shares (31 December 2022: Nil).
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under the New Share Option Scheme during the
financial year divided by the weighted average number of shares of
the relevant class in issue for the year was approximately 0%.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the New Share
Option Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Where
any further grant of Options to a participant would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options granted
and to be granted to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the Shares in issue, such further grant must be separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting with such participant and his/
her associates abstaining from voting, and the number and terms of
Options to be granted to such participant must be fixed before the
Shareholders’ approval.
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Apart from the New Share Option Scheme, the Group have no other
share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules during
the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of

this Annual Report.

Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with
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the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: BT
Exercise price
Cancelled/ of per share
Name and As at Granted Exercised lapsed As at Date of Exercise as at the date
category of 1 January during the during the during the 31 December grant of period of of grant of
participants 2023 year year year 2023  share options share options share options
RERE
e g2 R 3 BRE BRE RitBH2
SHEERZRER -A-H ERERMN ERETHE BEE/ AR r=E RHAH iy SRITEE
Executive Director
HTEE
Mr. Chang Jian 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 18/10/2022 13/10/2022-12/10/2032 0.456
BREE —“E--f C-E--E+R+T=RZE
+A+=A e
Non-executive Directors
FHTEE
Mr. Wang Chen 250,000 - (250,000) - - 18/10/2022 13/10/2022-12/10/2032 0.456
IR%E R CZEZZFTATZHE
+A+=A e
Mr. Duan Shi Chuan 125,000 - (125,000) - - 18/10/2022 13/10/2022-12/10/2032 0.456
BLllksE —F--fF ZE-F+A+ZRE
TA+=H ZER=CETATCH
2,875,000 - (2,875,000) - -
Employees 21,225,003 - (12,235,000) - 8,990,003 18/10/2022 13/10/2022-12/10/2032 0.456
{3 ZRCZE ZECCETASZHE
TA+=H s =
Corporate financial advise 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 7/4/2022 7/4/2022-6/4/2032 0.456
RERER kSt “E--%NALAZE
mA+A —E=-FMAXA
25,975,003 - (15,110,000) - 10,865,003
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Notes:

(i) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows:

) REFEFEZERERRGEHNT:

Contractual
Number of options Vesting conditions life of options
BREHE HSEKRE BRESHED

Options granted:

BERHERE:

7 April 2022 1,875,000 Vest immediately 10years
- _FMA+H BB 557 8 105
13 October 2022 24,100,003  Vest immediately 10years
- _F+A+=H BIRS 55 8 106

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows:

(i) FEAEZEE RETEITEEMNT

Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
nREFE YT EE BREHE

HK$

BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2023 RZZE_=F— A —BKR{TE 0.456 25,975,003
Exercised during the year FABITE 0.456 15,110,000
Lapsed during the year FRE KR - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 2023 R-TE-_=F+-A=+—B XTI 0.456 10,865,003
Exercisable as at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+=A=+—8017fE 0.456 10,865,003

The subscription price per share under the Share Option Scheme is
solely determined by the Board, and shall be at least the higher of:
(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of offer to grant option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of offer to
grant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of offer
to grant option, provided that in the event of fractional prices, the
subscription price per share shall be rounded upwards to the nearest
whole cent.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, since there is no share
option granted, no material matter relating to the share option
scheme has been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.
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MAJOR TRANSACTION AND EVENTS
Proposed share premium reduction

The Board intends to put forward for approval by the Shareholders
at the special general meeting a proposal to reduce the entire
amount standing to the credit of the Share Premium Account as
of the Effective Date to nil with the credit arising therefrom to be
transferred to the Contributed Surplus Account and to authorise the
Board to apply such amount in such manner as permitted by the
laws of Bermuda and the Bye-laws. A special general meeting of the
Company has been convened on 6 March 2023, and was passed by
special resolution.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
16 January 2023, 9 February 2023 and 6 March 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 9 February 2023.

Discloseable and connected transaction in relation
to possible acquisition of additional equity interest of
Huiyang New Energy

On 28 March 2023, Shanxi Yangcheng, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, submitted a bid for acquiring the remaining 20%
equity interest in Huiyang New Energy with a bidding price of
RMB6,723,800 through participating in the bid invitation, auction
and listing (F A %) organised by the Shanxi Property Trading
Market* (LLFAEEEER H M) . Upon completion of the Possible
Acquisition, the Group will in aggregate be interested in the entire
equity interest of Huiyang New Energy, and Huiyang New Energy will
become an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios under Chapter 19
of the GEM Listing Rules exceed 5% but less than 25%, the Possible
Acquisition constitutes a discloseable transaction for the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules and is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirement under the GEM Listing Rules.
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Yangcheng Yangtai is a substantial shareholder of Huiyang New
Energy, and therefore a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level. As such, the Possible Acquisition also constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

None of the Directors has a material interest in the Possible
Acquisition and therefore none of them is required to abstain from
voting on the resolutions of the Board for considering and approving
the Possible Acquisition.

Since (i) Yangcheng Yangtai is a connected person of the Company
at the subsidiary level; (i) the Board has approved the Possible
Acquisition; and (iii) the independent non-executive Directors
have confirmed that the terms of the Possible Acquisition are fair
and reasonable, and that the Possible Acquisition is on normal
commercial terms and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, the Possible Acquisition is subject to the
announcement requirement but is exempt from the circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
20.99 of the GEM Listing Rules. The completion of the acquisition
took place on 19 April 2023.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
28 March 2023, 14 April 2023 and 20 April 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 52.6% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 13.8% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review
together accounted for approximately 86.1% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 47.2% of the Group’s total purchases.
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None of the Directors, their respective associates or any shareholders
of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding options
to subscribe for 10,865,003 shares (as a result of the share
consolidation effective on 5 January 2023) under the share option
scheme adopted on 28 March 2022 and outstanding convertible
bonds convertible to 10,367,229 conversion shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.
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MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture
Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong Investment”) has
provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB16,500,000. As
Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity interest in Shanxi Wanzhi
Logistics Limited (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company),
Chengrong Investment is a connected person of the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial assistance
provided by a connected person for the benefit of the Group on
normal commercial terms (or better to the Company) where no
security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect of the
financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under Rule
20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material
related party transactions disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business as of the
Group.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Declaration of dividends by the Company is subject to compliance
with applicable laws of Bermuda and the Bye-laws. In determining
whether to propose a dividend and the dividend amount, the Board
will take into account a number of factors, including but not limited
to the Group’s financial performance and cashflow, distributable
reserves, operation and liquidity requirements, current and future
development plans and funding needs, restrictions under any loan
covenants as well as prevailing economic and market conditions.
The distribution of dividends to Shareholders can be by way of
cash or scrip or partly by cash or scrip or in such other manner as
determined by the Board from time to time.

Subject to the factors described above, there is no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount or manner for any
period and the dividend pay-out ratio may vary from year to year. The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and, if considered
appropriate, may modify, amend and change the Dividend Policy at
any time.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the annual general meeting. A resolution for the reappointment of
KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditors of the Company for the
subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairrman

27 March 2024
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KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

MESHMEZMAER LS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 215,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB84,435,000. This condition, along with other matters as set
forth in note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty exists which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in
our report.
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R ETE: S

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: RERAM AT A% 55 Bl A B3R 25 A% = TR LA

mF

Valuation of property, plant and equipment and right-of- Y BBERREURCEAREET

use assets

1

Refer to notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements. LGP ERRMFE17 218 -

Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWFZNABRZEAREZSR

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets before current
year’s impairment were approximately RMB218,317,000
and RMB19,966,000 respectively. These assets mainly
belonged to two cash generating units (‘CGUs”) — Shanxi
Qinshui and Yangcheng Huiyang. In view of the resumption
of full operations and increases in the unit selling prices
of the products produced by these CGUs during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the 2 CGUs become profitable
in the year. These situations indicate that the impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets recognised in prior years for these assets may no
longer exist or may have decreased.
RZBZ=F+_RA="1—"08 % #ERZEARE
AEEENREE(NMBRAEERER) DNOEARE
218,317,0007T X AR #19,966,0007 T c ZEEE X 25 B
RREReESSEM ([BeEEEL]) —WWFELKKEE
HEG - ERNUREREELAENERBE_ST_=F
TZAZTRIEFEXTRIRELE  BEERRmERH
EEREMEM tMEReEEEVRNEFNERETN -
ZENABTRNBEFERZSTEERANYE KRk
REAREREEEMEREEETNETFERAIERD -

Impairment tests require the estimation of recoverable
amounts of the relevant cash generating units using a
discounted cash flow approach, as detailed in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements. Management concluded
its impairment assessments and determined that reversal
of impairment losses of property, plant and equipment of
approximately RMB6,853,000 were recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 Deoember 2023.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
included:

BMME BREREAREAEEERERITH
BFaE:

e We have reviewed the management’s assessment
of the recoverability of these assets and the
reasonableness of the judgements and estimates
used by the management in the value-in-use
calculations made by the independent valuer.
HMEEEERBHZEEEN WL EEL
WAL EREEB L(AEMETHNERE
Bt &R A R EETa RN

e We have discussed the reversal of impairment
loss indicators with the management and,
assessed the impairment testing performed by the
management.

%FﬁEEﬁiAﬁﬂ VRN SRk R AR
ERBETHRERR -

e We have tested the cash flows projections
on whether they were agreed to the budgets
approved by the directors of the Company and
compared with actual results available up to the
report date.
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Key Audit Matter
BREXRSEE

B ZBERE

How our audit addféSsed the key audit matter
BMNFZNABRZERERSR

We have identified the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit
matter because of the significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the involvement of a significant
degree of judgements made by the management and the
estimation uncertainty involved in the cash flows projections
and other key inputs for the value-in-use calculations for
determining the recoverable amounts of the CGUs as at 31
December 2023.
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We have challenged the appropriateness of the
management judgements and estimates used
in the cash flows projections, including the sales
growth rates and gross profit margins.
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We have engaged an independent expert to assist
us in challenging the discount rates adopted
in the value-in-use calculations by reviewing its
basis of calculations and comparing the input
data to market sources. Our independent expert
also assisted us in assessing the valuation
methodology used and the appropriateness of
the key assumptions and checked on sample
basis, the accuracy and the relevance of the
input data adopted in management'’s value-in-use
calculations.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information in
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
and our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at: http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre/. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number: PO4686

Hong Kong
27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

— = 2
melERk
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—-ZE_=F+=-A=1+—HILEE
2023 2022
—Eg=-= g
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARETT
Revenue Uk & 6 239,421 326,509
Cost of sales SHE R A (213,046) (273,192)
Gross profit EF 26,375 53,317
Other income and gains or losses = PN AT 8 11,581 11,232
Selling and distribution costs THE Ko iHAA (2,932) (4,536)
Administrative and other expenses THEEMRS (38,870) (47,156)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHB AR 2 W 39 - 100,797
Reversal of impairment on property, Y R RBEBERD
plant and equipment 6,853 22,129
Reversal of impairment under TEHEEEBEER TRE
expected credit loss model, net B EFEE 9 351 2,611
Equity-settled share-based payment  #E %5 45 & A IR 1D A&
BRI - (6,468)
Finance costs B 75 & A 10 (1,259) (2,575)
Profit before taxation B %L A )% A 11 2,099 129,351
Income tax credit/(expense) FTiSsiEe, (%) 12 56 (7,240)
Profit for the year AEEER 2,155 122,111
Attributable to: N5 75 B4
Equity shareholders of the Company 22 Al fE s A% R 2,530 127,293
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M 2 (375) (5,182)
2,155 122,111
RMB RMB
AR AR
Earnings per share BREAER
— Basic —HK 16 0.69 cents & 49.01 cents %
— Diluted —#E 16 0.68 cents 7+  47.90 cents 7

TEEEREEEBRAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PRO&R LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaREsRkEtMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—-ZE_=F+=-A=1+—HILEE

2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFT
Profit for the year REERF 2,155 122,111
Other comprehensive income H fih 2 W &
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently HigngeEfoEEEn
to profit or loss: mIE A -
Exchange differences on translation of RERINEBHBREK 2
financial statements of foreign operations =% 8,197 598
Total comprehensive income for the year ZAEEEZHEWH AL 10,352 122,709
Total comprehensive income/(loss) THEFEEZE®KE
attributable to: (E18) &%
Equity shareholders of the Company RN AR 10,727 127,891
Non-controlling interests FEVE R (375) (5,182)
10,352 122,709
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A IR R

At 31 December 2023 R=—Z=_=F+_-H=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg=-= —_E-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR®F AREFTT
Non-current assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment Y% - R KRR 17 225,170 224,953
Right-of-use assets REEE 18 19,966 19,975
Deposits and prepayments e MIBRFIE 19 6,444 26,076
251,580 271,004

Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 7,631 10,832
Trade and other receivables JrE L B TR B L 4th e U FR TR 21 31,474 29,690
Tax recoverable Al Uk B 754 18 2,209 2,209
Bank balances and cash IRITHERR IR S 22 45,444 150,434
86,758 193,165
Total assets wEE 338,338 464,169

Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JE < BR 3K K2 L At FE <Y SRR 23 141,387 182,406
Other borrowings HMER 24 16,500 19,500
Provision B 26 13,306 14,537
171,193 216,443
Net current liabilities REBEERE (84,435) (23,278)
Total assets less current liabilities 2EERREEE 167,145 247,726
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CONSOLIDATED STATEME L FINANCIAL POSITION
A IR R

At 31 December 2023 R=Z=-_=F+=-H=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg=-= —_E-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 ARET AREFTT
Non-current liabilities e =
Convertible bonds AR (& 5 25 2,944 -
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEEE 27 3,400 3,715
6,344 3,715
Net assets EERE 160,801 244,011
Capital and reserves BEXRE#E
Share capital (&N 28(a) 26,305 17,133
Reserves L] 138,712 278,848
Equity attributable to equity ARA)ERR R EGER
shareholders of the Company 165,017 295,981
Non-controlling interests PR M 2 (4,216) (51,970)
Total equity AR 160,801 244,011

The consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 215 were =ZZFeR T _NMF=-_A_-_+tHH#LEN
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  R#EF|ZFIZEH E2158 2 SR A P IEHREK °
27 March 2024.

Wang Zhong Sheng Chang Jian
T AR B
Director Director

EFE EFE
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